1949

Zella B. Wakefield v. Ivan L. Ballard et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Francis M. Ballard and Lucinda A. Ballard were husband and wife residing in Payson, Utah County, State of Utah, and were the parents of the following named sons and daughters, to-wit:

Ivan L. Ballard	Myrtle Denhalter
Melvin Ballard	Leah B. Ericksen
Leland B. Ballard	Zella May Wakefield
Izetta B. Kapple Hill	Eva Ireta Martin

(Tr. 10, 11)

On the 30th day of January, 1927, Francis M. Ballard died intestate leaving as his heirs at law, his wife, Lucinda A. Ballard, who at the time was seventy-one years of age, and the aforementioned sons and daughters. (Plaintiff's Exhibit — Probate file No. 4426). Petition for Letters of Administration was filed on the 30th day of August, 1927, praying for the appointment of Ivan L. Ballard and Leland B. Ballard, two of the sons of the decedent, to act as administrators (Tr. 98). Only Leland B. Ballard qualified as the administrator through-

out the probate proceeding. (Plaintiff's Exhibit—Probate File No. 4426—Tr. 4, 13, 52, 60, 98, 103).

Immediately after the funeral of Francis M. Ballard, a meeting of all the sons and daughters of the decedent was held in the home of their mother, Lucinda A. Ballard, at the family residence in Payson, Utah. (Tr. 10, 11, 14, 15, 32, 49, 58, 77). This conference among the heirs, including Lucinda A. Ballard, was for the purpose of deciding how best an adequate income could be provided for their mother, Lucinda A. Ballard, from the assets of their father's estate (Tr. 12, 16, 32, 33, 59).

The home property situated in Payson, Utah County, Utah, was in the name of Lucinda A. Ballard prior to the death of her husband and hence was not involved as an asset in the probate of the Estate of Francis M. Ballard.

The sons and daughters, at this conference, mutually agreed that all of the real property which their father died possessed of should be quit-claimed by each of the heirs to their mother, Lucinda A. Ballard, and that she should use, occupy, and derive the benefits of this property, together with the home property then standing in her name, during her lifetime, and at her death all of the property would pass to her estate to be distributed equally to the sons and daughters, share and share alike (Tr. 13, 25, 29, 33, 46, 50, 59, 62, 78).

Thereafter, and in the summer of 1929, each of the sons and daughters executed quit-claim deeds conveying their respective interest in their father's estate to their mother, Lucinda A. Ballard, thereby confirming the course of action agreed

upon at the aforementioned conference, and for the welfare and best interests of their mother —(Probate File No. 4426—Tr. 13, 14, 25, 26, 27, 29, 33, 36, 38, 39, 59, 60, 64). These quit-claim deeds were prepared by R. A. Porter, Attorney for the Estate of Francis M. Ballard, deceased (Tr. 14, 51).

On the 17th day of August, 1929, the court made and entered a decree distributing all of the property in the estate to Lucinda A. Ballard in accordance with, and in harmony with, the agreement of the sons and daughters and the quit-claim deeds executed by them, and in accordance with the final account and petition for distribution filed by Leland B. Ballard, administrator of the estate (Probate File No. 4426).

However, after the quit-claim deeds of the heirs had been signed and after the entry of the Decree of Distribution in the probate proceedings, the three sons, Leland B. Ballard, Melvin Ballard and Ivan L. Ballard took possession of the properties, managed the same, and thereafter received all incomes from the properties (Tr. 20, 52, 53, 54, 55, 98, 99). Lucinda A. Ballard continued to occupy and maintain her residence at the home property which she and her deceased husband had acquired through a long lifetime of joint effort.

Sometime in 1936 or 1937, the three sons, Leland, Melvin and Ivan prevailed upon their aged mother to go to the office of her attorney, R. A. Porter, in Payson, Utah, and there sign three instruments purporting to be deeds of conveyance (Tr. 22, 23, 28, 47, 69, 70 and 86). One deed named Leland B. Ballard as grantee and described the home property of his mother, Lucinda A. Ballard, which property is more specifically described as follows:

Commencing at the Northwest Corner of Lot 3 in Block 8 of Plat "K" in Payson City Survey of Building Lots; thence East 214.50 feet; thence South 198 feet; thence West 214.50 feet; thence North 198 feet; to the place of beginning. Together with the improvements thereon.

This deed was dated September 19, 1936, and recorded September 30, 1936, in Book No. 331, page 299 at the Utah County Recorder's office.

The second of these deeds named Melvin Ballard as grantee and covered the "Nebeker property" which was a part of the real estate owned by the estate of Francis M. Ballard, deceased, included in the quit-claim deeds of the heirs and specifically described as follows, to-wit:

Commencing 75 feet South from the Northwest Corner of Block 23, Plat "Q" Payson City Survey of Building Lots; thence South with line of Block 139.5 feet; thence East 462 feet; thence North with line of Block 139.5 feet; thence West 462 feet to the place of beginning.

ALSO: All of Lot 1, in Block 37 of Plat "A," Payson City Survey of Building Lots.

This deed was dated April 28, 1937, and recorded November 22, 1937, in Book 337 at page 8 in the Utah County Recorder's office.

The other of these three deeds named Ivan L. Ballard as grantee and purported to convey the "farm property" which was a part of the real estate owned by the estate of Francis M. Ballard, was included in the quit-claim deeds executed by the sons and daughters to their mother, and more specifically described as follows, to-wit:

Commencing 6.53 chains North and $3.80\frac{1}{2}$ chains South $88^{\circ}45'$ East from the Southwest Corner of the Southeast Quarter of Section 10, Township 9 South, Range 2 East of the Salt Lake Base and Meridian; thence South $88^{\circ}45'$ East 4.945 chains; thence North $1^{\circ}15'$ East 9.90 chains; thence North $88^{\circ}15'$ West 4.945 chains; thence South $1^{\circ}15'$ West 9.90 chains to the place of beginning, Area 4.90 acres.

Also commencing 16.43 chains North and 4.00 chains South $88^{\circ}45'$ East from the Southwest Corner of said Quarter of Section; thence South $88^{\circ}45'$ East 4.94 chains; thence North $1^{\circ}15'$ East 9.90 chains; thence North $88^{\circ}45'$ West 4.94 chains; thence South $1^{\circ}15'$ West 9.90 chains to the place of beginning, Area 4.90 acres.

Also commencing 26.33 chains North from the Southwest Corner of the Southeast Quarter of said Section 10, in Township 9 South, Range 2 East, Salt Lake Base and Meridian; thence South 89° East 9.18 chains; thence North $1^{\circ}15'$ East 4.22 chains; thence South $78^{\circ}15'$ West 10.31 chains; thence South 1° West 1.98 chains; thence South 89° East 0.91 chains; to the place of beginning, Area 2.62 acres.

This deed was dated January 30, 1937, and recorded January 10, 1938 in Book No. 337, page 37 in the Utah County Recorder's office.

These three deeds were left in the office of Attorney R. A. Porter by Lucinda A. Ballard and thereafter came into the possession of her three sons who were named as grantees of the properties (Tr. 27, 101). There was no consideration for the purported conveyances (Plaintiff's Exhibit A, page 5). The sons remained in possession of all of the property as tenants and their mother, Lucinda A. Ballard, found it necessary

to seek relief from the State of Utah in order that she might live, as all rentals and proceeds from the property, including her homestead, were being taken and used by her three sons. (Tr. 20, 26, 27, 35, 45, 53, 54, 56, 60, 66, 67, 73, 74, 101 and 110).

During the period from 1932 to 1944 the taxes on the farm and Nebeker properties remained unpaid and the same were sold to Utah County for taxes (Tr. 16, 19, 21, 86, 100, 101). In 1944 these properties were redeemed by Melvin and Ivan and titles taken in the names of their respective immediate families (Tr. 83, 84, 85, 86, 93, 94, 95, 96, 99, 100, 104, and 105—Defendants' Exhibits 3, 4 and 5).

In July, 1943, Lucinda A. Ballard, then 87 years old, commenced suits against her three sons to set aside the deeds, and her deposition was taken (Plaintiff's Exhibit A—Tr. 23, 24). She died while the suits were pending. The plaintiff caused these three suits to be dismissed without prejudice other than upon their merits, and within one year from the date this action commenced. Two of the sons, Melvin Ballard and Leland B. Ballard, died in 1947.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

1. The court erred in refusing to set aside and annul the deed from Lucinda A. Ballard to Leland B. Ballard, the deed from Lucinda A. Ballard to Ivan L. Ballard and the deed from Lucinda A. Ballard to Melvin Ballard.

2. The court erred in finding that the deeds from Lucinda A. Ballard to her three sons, Leland B. Ballard, Ivan L. Ballard

and Melvin Ballard were executed and delivered of her own free will without any fraud or undue influence.

3. The court erred in refusing to impress a trust upon the properties described in the plaintiff's complaint, in favor of the Estate of Lucinda A. Ballard, deceased.

4. The court erred in decreeing that the plaintiff's cause of action was barred by the Statute of Limitations, Section 104-2-24 (3) U. C. A., 1943, as against the administratrix of Leland B. Ballard and the heirs of Melvin Ballard.

5. The court erred in making and entering a decree in favor of the defendants and against the plaintiff as administratrix of the estate of Lucinda A. Ballard, deceased.

ARGUMENT

I

THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO SET ASIDE AND ANNUL THE DEEDS FROM LUCINDA A. BALLARD TO HER THREE SONS, LELAND, B. BALLARD, IVAN L. BALLARD AND MELVIN BALLARD AND FINDING THAT THESE DEEDS WERE EXECUTED AND DELIVERED OF THE GRANTOR'S OWN FREE WILL WITHOUT FRAUD OR UNDUE INFLUENCE ON THE PART OF THE SONS, THE GRANTEEES.

The evidence unequivocally shows that immediately after the death of Francis M. Ballard, all of his sons and daughters met with their mother at the family home for the purpose of

determining means by which their aged mother could be financially provided for. The real estate left by the decedent consisted of a farm and the "town or Nebeker property" situated in Payson, Utah (Probate File No. 4426). The tract known as the "family home" was in the name of their mother, Lucinda A. Ballard, and not subject to the probate proceeding. The sons and daughters decided a course of action whereby all of the respective interests of each in the estate of their father was to be quit-claimed to their mother, Lucinda A. Ballard, and she in turn would use the property for her needs during her lifetime and thereafter the remainder, including the "home property," would pass to her estate for equal distribution to the sons and daughters, share and share alike. This agreement was amply supported by the consideration of each heir relinquishing his or her interest in their father's estate for the benefit of their aged mother.

It must also be considered that both Ivan and his brother Leland petitioned the court for Letters of Administration and that Leland was duly appointed and acted as the administrator throughout the probate proceeding, and procured the deeds from the heirs.

After the estate was distributed by Decree to their mother, Lucinda A. Ballard, her son Ivan went into possession of the farm property, Melvin took possession of the Nebeker property in Payson City, and eventually the home property was taken over by Leland, who remodeled the house and derived rental therefrom. Thus the aged Lucinda A. Ballard found herself in destitute circumstances, without means for support, and yet the owner of properties from which she was receiving no

benefit, except living quarters in the family homestead. Was it any wonder that she was induced by her three sons to convey the properties to them in return for their assurance that she would be then adequately provided for?

After Mrs. Ballard had complied with the inducements of her three sons by deeding all of her property to them, she found herself betrayed and of necessity sought relief from the State Welfare department. Ivan and Melvin permitted the taxes on the properties to become delinquent.

From this course of events, could it then be concluded that the sons of Lucinda A. Ballard acted in good faith toward their sisters who had mutually agreed with them and their mother as to the disposition of the properties in question. Fraud is a state of the mind and we submit that from the facts at hand, the sons of Lucinda A. Ballard and Francis M. Ballard actively schemed, individually and collectively, with a view to depriving the sisters of a just share in the properties of their father and mother. Their actions were a breach of mutual confidence and the trial court erred in concluding that the deeds from Lucinda A. Ballard to her three sons were executed of the grantor's own free will, without misrepresentation or influence. To hold otherwise would be to invite perpetration of fraud among heirs.

II

THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO IMPRESS A TRUST UPON THE PROPERTIES IN FAVOR OF THE ESTATE OF LUCINDA A. BALLARD, DECEASED, AND

IN MAKING AND ENTERING A DECREE IN FAVOR OF THE DEFENDANTS AND AGAINST THE PLAINTIFF.

It is the appellant's contention (Assignment of Errors Nos. 3 and 5) that the evidence adduced at the trial required that a trust be impressed upon the subject properties by operation of law. To do so would not be violative of the Statute of Frauds as has been held in the recent Utah case of Haws et al. vs. Jensen, 209 P. 2d 229, wherein this court speaking through Justice Wolfe said:

"In this State a trust in real property can be created in two ways: (1) by act or operation of law (2) by deed or conveyance in writing."

The court had before it for interpretation 33-5-1 U.C.A. 1943.
See also:

Barret v. Vickers, 116 P. 2d 772;
Corey v. Roberts, 25 P. 2d 940;
Hansen v. Hansen, 171 P. 2d 392.

A constructive trust is an equitable remedy to prevent unjust enrichment and a court of equity is bound by no unyielding formula; the equity of the course of events must shape the measure of relief. Where undue influence or duress has been employed to obtain a property transfer, a court of equity will compel restoration by means of a constructive trust.

Bogert, Trusts and Trustees, Vol. 3, Sections 471 and 474.

In the instant case, the interests of all the children in the properties of the Estate of Francis M. Ballard, their father, when quit-claimed to their mother carried the condition that

the same would eventually be distributed to them equally if not used by her during her lifetime. The subsequent action of the three sons in prevailing upon their aged mother to convey the properties to them without consideration and in disregard of any interests of their sisters, was a gross fraud and injustice to both Mrs. Ballard and her daughters.

In equity all of the heirs of Francis M. Ballard and Lucinda A. Ballard were tenants in common and hence the payment of taxes by the sons and the taking of tax deeds, inure to the benefit of all as joint owners.

Sperry v. Tolley (Utah) 199 P. 2d 542

This is not a situation whereby the rule of purchaser in good faith for a valuable consideration and without notice can be applied to the acquisition of trust property. As was said in the Utah case of Peterson v. Peterson, 190 P. 2d 135:

"The general rule in regard to the rights of beneficiaries to reclaim trust property is stated in 54 American Jurisprudence, Trusts, Par. 266:

'The right of beneficiary of a trust to reclaim trust property in the hands of a third person or to charge such third person as a constructive trustee is primarily a question of the status of such third person as a bona fide purchaser for value and without notice. Equities of the beneficiary of a trust in the property or funds of the trust are cut off by the trustee's alienation or encumbrance of such trust property or funds to a purchaser for value and in good faith who has no actual or constructive notice of any breach of trust in the alienation or encumbrance, although this does not, of course, deprive the beneficiary of his remedies of enforcing the trust against the proceeds in the hands of

the trustee or against the trustee personally. But to be so protected the purchaser must be both a purchaser for value and a purchaser in good faith, and without notice. Equities are cut off only to the extent that a person taking trust property or funds in good faith has given value.

One who acquires trust property with notice of the breach of trust or who is for any other reason not a purchaser in good faith is not protected as against equities of the beneficiary, but takes the property or funds charged or impressed with the trust, notwithstanding he gives full value in the transaction. On the other hand, one who has taken in good faith and without notice of any breach of trust is not protected if he gave no value. The purchaser, to be protected, must be a bona fide purchaser, not only at the time of the contract or conveyance, but until the purchase money is actually paid.' "

Under the facts, we submit, that equity demands the imposition of a trust in the property in favor of the plaintiff as administratrix of the estate of Lucinda A. Ballard, deceased, to thereby insure equitable distribution of the properties to all of the heirs of the children of Lucinda A. and Francis M. Ballard.

III

THE COURT ERRED IN DECREERING THAT THE PLAINTIFF'S CAUSE OF ACTION WAS BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS, SUBSECTION 3, 104-2-24, U.C.A., 1943, AS AGAINST THE ADMINISTRATRIX OF LELAND B. BALLARD AND THE HEIRS OF MELVIN BALLARD.

It is the appellant's contention that the statute of limitations, sub-section 3, 104-2-24 U.C.A., 1943, is in no way involved or applicable in this instance. To so hold disregards the facts of the case. The sons and daughters of Lucinda A. Ballard had no rights in the properties quit-claimed to their mother so long as she lived, as the very purpose of their deeds was to insure adequate means for her support. She could use the properties as she saw fit during her lifetime or even dispose of them if necessary for her welfare. Her three sons were either in actual possession or managing the affairs of the properties from the time of her husband's death, and this fact would be no indication to the daughters that their brothers were fraudulently intending to deprive them of their rights by securing conveyances to themselves without consulting them. When this scheme became apparent to Lucinda A. Ballard, she filed suit to recover the properties as the consideration for the conveyance to her sons had failed and these suits were pending at the time of her death.

The sons were to participate equally as beneficiaries with their sisters in any assets left in the estate of their mother upon her death. Hence, a cause of action could not possibly accrue to the sisters until their mother's death and as their brothers were to participate equally with them in any residue of the estate, the real party in interest to recover the properties would be the administratrix of the estate of Lucinda A. Ballard.

The obligations of the sons in joining in the giving of deeds to their mother immediately after the death of their father were twofold. First, it was their duty to permit their mother to have the income from the property during her life,

and to dispose of the principal if necessary for her maintenance and support, and secondly, to permit of the distribution of the estate under the laws of inheritance after her death. It was not until after the death of their mother, that the heirs, through an administrator, could assert their rights to a distribution of the property under the laws of inheritance and hence the statute of limitations could not have begun to run until after the death of Mrs. Ballard, insofar as the factual situation herein presents itself.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion we desire merely to say that the question of security of titles is not involved in this case. The law clearly supports the contentions of the appellant as heretofore discussed and we submit that the aquities are in her favor. The decree of the lower court should be reversed.