1949

## Zella B. Wakefield v. Ivan L. Ballard et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### NO MUTUAL AGREEMENT FOR TRUST WAS ENTERED INTO

The plaintiff is trying to impress a trust. Her case falls of its own weight if no agreement existed as alleged

in the complaint. That no mutual agreement was entered into by all the heirs of Francis M. Ballard is shown by the following facts:

When Francis M. Ballard died in August, 1927, he left his wife and eight children. Five of the children were daughters and three were sons. They were all adults and married. Leland B. Ballard had married well and was consequently at that time better fixed financially than the rest. He was the youngest of all the children. They sort of looked to him for financial assistance when they needed it. He had furnished all the money to remodel the home before the father's death. (Ex. "A")

Leland B. Ballard was commonly known as Bert Ballard. Hereafter he may be referred to as Bert. The clerk of the Court did not number the pages of the transcript of proceeding along with other papers so when referring to the testimony to be found in the proceedings, I shall designate that record as (T.P.).

In the first place plaintiff alleges the agreement was mutual among *all* of the heirs. Eva B. Martin, the next to the oldest child, testified she was not at the conference where plaintiff was trying to prove that the mutual agreement took place. After being asked why she gave the quit claim deed, she answered: "Well, the idea was that it was to . . . the property really would belong to her if we would sign it over to her. Otherwise, it belonged to the estate. That was the understanding I got" (T.P. 63 and 64). She was the plaintiff's witness. If the plaintiff's case is no stronger than her weakest witness,

then defendants should succeed on this testimony alone. Ivan L. Ballard also testified that Eva was not at the meeting. (T.P. 77).

Now what did Leah B. Ericksen, another of plaintiff's witnesses say? She said the conference following the funeral was held in February, 1927. (T.P. 10) "It was suggested," she said, "that we make a quit claim deed and deed everything back to mother for her to use as long as she lived, for her . . . *and use it as she wished.*" (T.P. 22 and 13) She did not testify there was any mutual agreement that Mrs. Ballard should have the property for her life time and then that it would go to her estate. She did not testify as was alleged in the complaint that the three boys requested the other heirs to join in the transfer of their interests. She did say: "We had her word that when she was through with it, she would see that we were all dealt with fairly." (T.P. 25) When talking about the property being sold for taxes, we have from Mrs. Ericksen the following:

"Q. So you didn't do anything to try to save it from taxes?

A. No.

Q. But for your interest, you were not very much interested?

A. Interested as far as one could be, *with it belonging to some one else.*" (T.P. 16 and 17).

Mrs. Zella B. Wakefield, another of plaintiff's witnesses gave some interesting testimony. At the conference immediately following the death of Francis M.



Ballard about February, 1927, she said to the rest of the Ballard children: "Any interest that might be left to me, I want you children to decide and use it for my mother's needs. (T.P. 33) She was asked:

"Q. You gave that (the deed) to her?

A. Yes.

Q. It was her property?

A. Yes.

Q. You didn't have any strings on it, it was given to her, wasn't it? You didn't say anything in your deed about there being any strings on it, did you?

A. I expected mother to use the property that was left the family for her needs." (T.P. 36)

The whole evidence of Mrs. Wakefield, including her two letters, (Ex. 1 and 2), is replete with statements similar to the above. No evidence appears from her testimony that her mother was to have only life interest or that it was deeded in trust. To the contrary it shows an outright gift for her to use as she pleased. (T.P. 31 to 48, Ex. 1 and 2).

Another witness for plaintiff, Izetta B. Kapple Hills, testified about the conference:

"After our discussion, we all decided to quit claim the property back to mother for her to use as she should see fit, to take care of her" (T.P. 50)

None of her testimony indicates that the property was deeded in trust or for life only.



Myrtle Denhalter, another of plaintiff's witnesses, was questioned.

“Q. And wasn't it your purpose when you deeded your interest over to her, to in justice and fairness give her what you thought was just and fair?

A. Yes, sir, I did.

Q. And deeded the property to her?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. With no strings whatsoever on it?

A. That's right.” (T.P. 61)

Ivan L. Ballard, the only witness for the defendants outside of the deputy county recorder, said that at the first meeting following the funeral of their father, Francis M. Ballard, all the children were present except Eva. No discussion, he said, was had then concerning quit claim deeds. (T.P. 77). The next meeting was several months later when only a small number of the children were present. Then they took up the probate matters and their mother's keep. Nothing was ever said about the mother getting only a life interest or that after her death the rest should go to her heirs (T.P. 78). Ivan further said that Eva told the story about right in this regard. It is remembered that although she was not at these meetings she did give a quit claim deed. Her idea as to why she gave the quit claim deed was that if they gave the deeds, the property would belong to their mother, but if they did not give them, it would belong to the estate. (T.P. 63 and 64). That was the whole story

It must be born in mind that the reason the other two sons, Melvin and Bert, were not witnesses is that they had died before the trial.

The importance of security of titles leads the courts to be very cautious in their acceptance of claims of constructive trusts. Therefore, the plaintiff must sustain the burden of proof by clear and satisfactory evidence. (Bogart on Trusts and Trustees Vol. 3, Section 472.) The plaintiff has not sustained her burden of proof. The fact is the proof appears to be clear and satisfactory that no strings whatsoever were attached to the quit claim deeds.

We are fortunate in this case to have all the evidence before the court except the testimony of Bert and Melvin the two deceased sons. It is unfortunate, however, that with all the other evidence we could not have had the testimony of Bert because he knew more perhaps than any of them, having been administrator of the father's estate and having contributed much as is shown in Mrs. Lucinda Ballard's testimony in Ex. "A".

It is highly interesting to note that this action was commenced more than 21 years after the father's death and about 20 years after the quit claim deeds were executed and delivered to Mrs. Ballard. They all knew no reservation had been made in the deeds for any part of the estate. Mrs. Ballard did not die until 1943. So they had over 14 years in which they could have either secured corrected deeds from her or obtained a written understanding. In July, 1943, Mrs. Ballard through J. D. Skeen and E. J. Skeen, her attorneys, filed three

suits in the Fourth District Court one each against the three sons Bert, Melvin and Ivan. These suits were to set aside the particular deeds referred to in the case before this court. The files of all these cases were introduced in evidence at the trial by plaintiff's counsel . . . referred to as file number 12,547, file number 12,568, and file number 12,567. (T.P. 7). Note the first paragraph in each of those complaints:

“That prior to the.....day of.....”  
 (giving the date when each deed was executed by her) plaintiff was the owner and in possession of the following described real estate” etc.

Not one place in these complaints does it infer that she had only a life interest or that she was holding in trust for all the children. She claimed to be the owner. After the deaths of Lucinda A. Ballard, Melvin Ballard and Bert Ballard three Amended Complaints were filed by the plaintiff administratrix in this case. One of them was filed as late as the last day of December, 1947, or early in January, 1948. The said Administratrix, Mrs. Zella B. Wakefield, in each of these Amended Complaints swears under oath that before Mrs. Ballard deeded the property to each of the three sons she “was the owner and in possession” of the real estate transferred. Not a single reference is made to any life estate or trust agreement. All those actions were brought upon the theory that the deeds were made upon the promise and consideration that the sons would support Mrs. Ballard for her life time; and it was claimed they failed to do it. These action were all dismissed without prejudice at the

time of the trial of the case at bar. It will be noted several motions to dismiss were considered for lack of prosecution in these cases over the years when they were in court.

In her last days of failing health, August 16, 1943, fifteen days before her death, the daughters through her attorneys caused that this 87 year old woman, Mrs. Lucinda A. Ballard, be subject to direct and cross examination about this unfortunate family controversy. All her testimony was introduced in evidence in this case without any objection on the part of the defendants. It is known as exhibit "A". It was a deposition and was taken at the home of the daughter, Mrs. Izzetta B. Kapple (now Hill) in Payson, Utah. If that record is examined it will be seen that not one word is said about the present claim that she had only a life estate or that she held it in trust. This present case was started not until May, 1948, being more than 4½ years after Mrs. Ballard's death. This was the first time apparently that the question of a life holding and trust dawned upon the plaintiff, her attorneys and other daughters. This is truly interesting.

## NO UNDUE INFLUENCE BY SONS

Counsel alleges that the three boys Leland, Melvin and Ivan prevailed upon their aged mother to go to the office of her attorney R. A. Porter and sign the three deeds. The use of the word "prevail" infers some undue influence. The record in no place bears out that statement. Counsel cites seven pages in the transcript

of proceedings where it is supposed to be found. The only evidence on those pages is that she deeded the property to the boys and left the deeds in the office of her attorney R. A. Porter and later the boys picked them up. In the case of Ivan, he did not pick up his deed for about a year after the deed was executed and left there for him. (T.P. 86) Had there been any selfish, fraudulent design on his part is it likely he would have left it there a year? If he had urged and unduly influenced her is it not very probable he would have got the deed immediately lest she should change her mind?

The home was in need of repairs about the time the property was deeded by Mrs. Ballard. Bert went to Eva B. Ballard to see if she could help in the expense. She could do nothing; and Eva testified she said to him, "I'm just not able to help out." (T.P. 71). On the following page (72) the transcript shows Eva testified she remembered her "mother saying this to me: "Eva, when you can pay Bert for what he's repaired the home, then you can come in on your third." Then on Page 73 in response to the question: "So as far as deeding the property to Bert is concerned, it was her desire, *her will, her own doings, wasn't it?*" She answered, "Yes". Mrs. Ballard was mentally alert right up to the time of her death August 31, 1943 (T. 1, T.P. 43) No satisfactory proof of undue influence is found in the record.

## REASONS DEEDS WERE GIVEN SONS BY LUCINDA A. BALLARD

We have clear and satisfactory proof in the record



that no undue influence was exercised by the three boys. This is shown when we study the whole record for Mrs. Ballard's reason and motive. When her husband, Frances M. Ballard, died in 1927, the inventory and appraisement shows the total value of all the real estate and water stock was \$3,355.00 This was early in 1928 before the depression of 1929 came along. It is very likely that she could have had all or most of this distributed to her under homestead exemption right without the quit claim deeds by her children. Even though two thirds of all of it had been distributed to her children, it would have been only \$280.00 for each of the eight children. So they could not have thought much about it. (Ex. file No. 4426 next to last paper). Here we had a woman, 71 years of age at the time, with this little property left by her deceased husband. She had her home, of course, in her own name. Someone had to see that she had food and clothing. No doubt, they thought with that property left by her husband it would enable her to live well the rest of her life. It is questionable that they gave any discussion or thought to what they were going to get out of it after their mother's death. They were happy to know that she had some property so they would not have the responsibility of supporting her and were pleased and willing to give the quit claim deeds to her . . .and with no reservations. The whole record bears this out. This Ballard family is an honorable family. The children were not clearing title in her by quit claim deeds and then restricting her the full enjoyment. Mrs. Fricksen said with that property her mother could "live

like a queen'' (T.P. 15). Does a queen have restrictions on her property? Is the independence of a queen taken away from her so she cannot sell, mortgage, give away or do what she wants with her property? Mrs. Ericksen was asked:

“Q And it was your thought and the thought of those present that this property should be *given* to her as you stated, to use as she wished.

A. That's right. That's right.” (T.P. 16).

There was no question but that Mrs. Ballard knew the property belonged to her out right and she could do with it as she wished. It was her desire to be fair and just as she stated in her deposition. We can reasonably assume that she knew much more about her children, their habits, what they had done for her and her husband in years past, how they had treated one another, etc., than the record could possibly show. It will be noted that the inventory shows Mrs. Leah Ericksen and her husband owed the estate of Francis M. Ballard \$1,930.00 and Myrtle Denhalter and her husband owed \$1,000.00.

Izetta B. Kapple Hills was indebted to Bert in the amount of \$1,000.00 plus interest. As a brother he helped her out when she stood to lose her home. It was Mrs. Lucinda A. Ballard's desire that Bert be paid. (T.P. 88). Bert had spent from \$1,000.00 to \$1,200.00 cash on the home. He furnished all the cash for a bathroom, screen porch, plumbing fixtures, sink, drain, cupboards, bins, took off lean too from house and moved it near granary, bricked all the east part of the house, painted the whole



house (2 stories) including the brick, shingled the house with new shingles, remodeled west side of house and refinished the floor. The other two boys Ivan and Melvin assisted with their labor in this rebuilding job. (T.P. 89 and Ex. "A" 14 to 16). Also, they put in two cement porches. None of the other children helped her with any cash. (Ex. "A" 18 and 19).

Mrs. Leah Ericksen at the time of the deposition was still owing \$500.00. (Ex "A" 27). Some of the Denhalter claim had been paid but it is not clear how much. (Ex. "A" 22 to 28). Mrs. Wakefield owed Ivan \$600.00 or \$700.00 which was taken into consideration at the time of executing the deeds to the boys. (T.P. 105 and 106).

The only daughter of the five daughters who did not owe someone in this family complication was Eva B. Martin. Mrs. Ballard wanted at first to see Eva share in part of the home property that was deeded to Bert. Eva said Bert had put a lot of money in the home to make it comfortable for their mother. (T.P. 67). So as related above she told Eva "when you can pay Bert for what he has repaired the home, then you can come in for your third." This Eva could not do. (T.P. 91). Therefore, Mrs. Ballard decided to and did deed the home to Bert. She wanted also to straighten up what Izetta owed Bert. (T.P. 68).

Mrs. Ballard gave Mrs. Ericksen her unpaid note and said to her, "I am giving that to you as your portion of the estate." (T.P. 23).

At the time of the father's death in 1927, the home

property was worth from \$1,500.00 to \$2,000.00 (T.P. 79). The Nebeker property was sold for taxes from 1932 to 1943 and there was \$1,700.00 pavement taxes owing on it. When Melvin took that property over he assumed those taxes. He bought the tax title from the County in the name of his wife and his mother deeded him the legal title. (T.P. 80). At the time of the father's death this Nebeker property was not worth more than \$1,000.00 to \$1,500.00. It would not have sold for enough to pay taxes and assessments. (T.P. 93).

When Mrs. Ballard deeded Ivan the property as she did, Ivan said she "just wanted to equalize things up between them all so that we could all get an equal share of it:" "According to her best judgment." (T.P. 92 and 93). There were back taxes from 1932 to 1943 on the farm property, also Ivan bought the tax title to that in the name of his boy Sterling and Paid \$473.00. Mrs. Ballard deeded the legal title to Ivan (T.P. 84, 85, Ex. "A" 3, 4 and 5).

I want to call the court's attention to the following as a small part of testimony given by the only surviving son, Ivan, about these properties:

"A. Well, my brother Melvin didn't have a home; he was in poor health; he had worked hard on the farm with father all of his life. Mother felt that boy needed protection. She felt that he had done enough through his hard work and efforts to merit that home, at that time, and the lots that border on the highway, just as you're entering Payson.

Q. And so she deeded that property to him?

A. That's right.

Q. Was there anything said — well, I'll withdraw that. Now what about the piece of property that you got down there, the Nebeker — or the farm, how many acres is that?

A. There's about 12 and 68/100.

Q. And how much was that property worth in 1927?

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